
 

 
 

 

 Switchboard: 01293 438000 
Main fax: 01293 511803 
Minicom: 01293 405202 DX: 
57139 Crawley 1 
www.crawley.gov.uk 
 

 
Town Hall 

The Boulevard 
Crawley 

West Sussex 
RH10 1UZ 

 

Town Hall
The Boulevard

Crawley
West Sussex

RH10 1UZ

 
Crawley Borough Council 

 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission 

 
 
Agenda for the Overview and Scrutiny Commission which will be held 
in Committee Room C - New Town Hall, on Monday, 6 March 2023 at 
7.00 pm 
 
 
 
Nightline Telephone No. 07881 500 227 
 
 
  

 
 

Chief Executive 
 

 
 
 
Membership:  
Councillors T G Belben (Chair), K Khan (Vice-Chair), M L Ayling, H Hellier, 

I T Irvine, R A Lanzer, A Pendlington, S Piggott, S Pritchard, T Rana 
and S Sivarajah 
 

   
 
 
 
Please contact Democratic Services if you have any queries regarding this agenda.  
democratic.services@crawley.gov.uk 
Published 24 February 2023 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 

The order of business may change at the Chair’s discretion 
 

Part A Business (Open to the Public) 
 
 
  Pages 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence   
 
2.   Disclosures of Interest and Whipping Declarations   

 In accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct, councillors are 
reminded that it is a requirement to declare interests where 
appropriate. 
  
Councillors must also declare if they are subject to their party group 
whip in relation to any items under consideration. 

 

 
3.   Minutes  5 - 12 

 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission held on 30 January 2023. 

 

 
4.   Public Question Time   

 To answer any questions or hear brief statements from the public 
which are relevant to the items on this agenda.  The period will end 
after 15 minutes or later at the Chair’s discretion. 

 

 
5.   Tenancy Policy Crawley Homes  13 - 30 

 To consider report CH/199 of the Head of Crawley Homes.  
 
6.   Cabinet Member Discussion with the Cabinet Member for 

Housing  
31 - 32 

 Councillor Buck has been invited to attend the Commission for a 
general discussion on the Housing Portfolio and their duties. A copy 
of the Cabinet Member’s responsibilities, as set out in the Council’s 
Constitution is attached 

 

 
7.   Forthcoming Decision List - and Provisional List of Reports 

for the Commission's following Meetings  
 

 To consider any requests for future items. Those highlighted items 
have been referred to the Commission. 
  
OSC 26 June              Cabinet 28 June 
Treasury Management Outturn 2022-2023 
Financial Outturn 2022-2023 (Quarter 4) 
Leisure Contract - PART B 
  

 

 

Page 2

http://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?RP=0&K=0&DM=0&HD=0&DS=1&Next=true&H=0&META=mgforthcomingdecisions&v=0&bcr=1


 
 
 
   Pages 

8.   Exempt Information – Exclusion of the Public   

 The Commission is asked to consider passing the following 
resolution:-  
 
That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business 
on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act by virtue 
of the paragraphs specified against the item. 
 

 

Part B Business (Closed to the Public) 
  
9.   Waste and Recycling Contract Extension  33 - 38 

 Exempt Paragraph 3  
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
  
To consider report HPS/34 of the Head of Major Projects and 
Commercial Services. 

 

 
10.   Supplemental Agenda   

 Any urgent item(s) complying with Section 100(B) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

 

 
 
This information is available in different formats and languages.  If you or 
someone you know would like help with understanding this document please 
contact the Democratic Services team on 01293 438549 or email: 
democratic.services@crawley.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 3

mailto:democratic.services@crawley.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Overview and Scrutiny Commission (48) 
30 January 2023 

 
 

Crawley Borough Council 
 

Minutes of Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
 

Monday, 30 January 2023 at 7.00 pm 
 

Councillors Present: 
 

 

T G Belben (Chair) 
K Khan (Vice-Chair) 
M L Ayling, I T Irvine, R A Lanzer, S Piggott, S Pritchard, T Rana and S Sivarajah 

 
Also in Attendance: 
 
Councillor R D Burrett and M G Jones 

 
Officers Present: 
 

 

Steve Blacktop Accounts Receivable Manager 
Elizabeth Brigden Planning Policy Manager 
Ian Duke Deputy Chief Executive 
Heather Girling Democratic Services Officer 
Sallie Lappage Forward Planning Manager 
Anthony Masson Senior Planning Officer 
Clem Smith Head of Economy and Planning 
Paul Windust Chief Accountant 

 
Apologies for Absence: 
 
Councillor H Hellier and A Pendlington 

 
1. Disclosures of Interest and Whipping Declarations  

 
The following disclosures were made: 
  
Councillor Item and Minute Type and Nature of 

Disclosure 
  

Councillor 
R A Lanzer 

2023-2024 Budget and Council 
Tax 
(Minute 5) 

Personal Interest – 
Member of WSCC  
  
  

Councillor 
R A Lanzer 

Health and Adult Social Care 
Scrutiny Committee 
(Minute 10)  

Personal Interest – 
Member of WSCC  
  
  

Page 5

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3



Overview and Scrutiny Commission (49) 
30 January 2023 

 
 

Councillor 
R A Lanzer 

Health and Adult Social Care 
Scrutiny Committee 
(Minute 10) 

Personal Interest – 
WSCC Cabinet Member for Public 
Health & Wellbeing 
  

2. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Commission held on 9 January 2023 were 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.   
  

3. Public Question Time  
 
No questions from the public were asked.  
  

4. Crawley Borough Local Plan Review - Publication and Submission  
 
The Commission considered report PES/427 of the Head of Economy and Planning. 
The report requested Full Council to approve the submission draft Local Plan for 
Publication consultation (a statutory six-week period of public consultation), 
commencing 9 May 2023. It also requested Full Council to agree the submission draft 
Local Plan for Submission to the Secretary of State for Examination by an 
independent Planning Inspector, subject to minor amendments deemed necessary 
following consultation for the purposes of clarity, together with the approval of the 
publication and submission of the supporting documents for the Local Plan.  
  
Throughout the discussion with the Head of Economy and Planning, Strategic 
Planning Manager, Planning Policy Manager and Senior Planning Officer. During the 
discussion, Councillors made the following comments: 
         Recognition that a full Local Plan Review was being undertaken to ensure the 

borough maintained up to date planning policies.  Much of the Local Plan 
remained as it was previously considered by Full Council in December 2020 
(following advice relating to the government’s aviation policy) and published for 
formal consultation in January to June 2021. Unexpected critical legal matters 
relating to water supply had subsequently followed and its potential impact on 
internationally protected habitat sites had caused additional work and substantial 
delays to the progression of the Local Plan whilst being resolved. There was now 
sufficient information available to address these concerns through the Local Plan 
Review and approval was sought to undertake a further period of Regulation 19 
consultation prior to submission of the final draft Plan to an Inspector for 
examination in public. The Local Development Scheme had recently been 
published confirming the timetable. 

         Acknowledgement that the public consultation would commence on 9 May and 
extend over a 6 week period. It was a formal consultation, with all representation 
received being submitted alongside the Local Plan to the Inspector for their 
consideration as part of the Examination. 

         It was confirmed that the adopted Local Plan was subject to a 5-year Policy 
Review by Full Council decision, which confirmed the policies remained up to date 
for the purposes of Development Management decisions and ensured the Council 
was not placed in a vulnerable position. The requirement to review the Local Plan 
every five years and ensure it is up to date triggered the need to assess the 
existing policies against the revised national planning policy requirements and 
provided the opportunity to strengthen key policy areas. 

         Acknowledgement that delays to neighbouring local authorities’ Local Plans and 
concerns with their housing supply could have implications across the housing 
market area.  There was recognition of the clear position on the benefits of 
maintaining an up to date Local Plan and that the ‘duty to co-operate’, had to be 

Page 6

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s25905/Crawley%20Borough%20Local%20Plan%20Review%20-%20Publication%20and%20Submission.pdf
https://crawley.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/engagement-and-monitoring/local-development-scheme


Overview and Scrutiny Commission (50) 
30 January 2023 

 
 

demonstrated when the Plan was submitted.  Local Plans were judged on their 
own merit and whilst there were benefits in the timetables of neighbouring 
authorities’ Plans aligning, this was not a requirement, noting that it was helpful 
previously to have Crawley’s housing requirement figure set first, prior to the 
Examination of neighbouring Plans.   

         Clarification sought and obtained on the timescale, consultation, and Examination 
process. 

         Acknowledgement that permitted development conversions were included in 
housing delivery figures.  It was noted that the Local Plan would secure a stronger 
position for the council to defend against inappropriate developments. Article 4 
Directions were currently in place across Manor Royal Business District, 
Maidenbower Business Park, Lowfield Heath, Three Bridges Corridor and Tilgate 
Forest Business Centre. Additionally the High Street and Queens Square and the 
Broadway Conservation Areas helped to secure the preservation and 
enhancement of Crawley’s historic environment in accordance with legislation, 
national planning policy and best practice. 

         Acknowledgement that the Local Plan had policies in place for a mix of housing 
for instance HMOs and upward extensions.  It was important to maintain a 
balance between providing a need for the type of accommodation and any impact 
upon the amenity and privacy of neighbouring properties and the general 
character of the area. It would be key with any development to maximise the 
appropriate development potential of the town whilst not losing the amenity value 
or streetscene and protecting valuable areas. 

         Acknowledgement of the Tree Protection and Tree Replacement policies, and 
recognition in the Plan that other forms of planting may be appropriate and 
potentially preferable for biodiversity.  

RESOLVED 
That the Commission noted the report and requested that the views expressed during 
the debate, were fed back to the Cabinet through the Commission’s Comment sheet. 
 

5. 2023-2024 Budget and Council Tax  
 
The Commission considered reports FIN/606 and FIN606A of the Chief Executive 
and Chief Accountant (s151 officer).  The Council has a statutory responsibility to set 
a Council Tax and Budget in advance of the commencement of the new financial 
year. The Council Tax has to be set by March each year. 
  
During the discussion, the following points were expressed:  
         Acknowledgement that there have been several movements since the Budget 

Strategy report and the budget assumed a use of reserves of £261,970.  There 
were sufficient General Fund reserves for this and during the year £413k of 
savings has been identified for the current and future financial years.  Fees and 
charges would also increase by an average of 5% as per the approved Budget 
Strategy.  

         The budget projection for the financial year 2024/25 provided a projected gap of 
over a million as a result of inflation and pay provisions, the additional costs of 
waste management and reduced Government funding.  Over the four years the 
average gap was £701k and work would be required to find savings and 
efficiencies to meet this gap.  Any growth item going forward would have to have a 
compensating saving identified to fund it. 

         Recognition that the Government increased the Council Tax capping guidance to 
3% or £5 on a Band D, whichever was the highest. The proposed 2.99% increase 
in Council Tax for the year for a Band D property equated to an increase of £6.55 
for the year.  Recognition that with regards to Council Tax the most common band 

Page 7

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s25889/2023-2024%20Budget%20and%20Council%20Tax.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s25945/Supplementary%20Budget%20Council%20Tax%20Report.pdf


Overview and Scrutiny Commission (51) 
30 January 2023 

 
 

within the town was Band C. It was commented that the proposed increase for the 
Borough Council was low when compared to those projected across the three 
authorities (CBC £6.55, WSCC £77.67, PCC £15.00).  It was important to be 
mindful and proportionate in the increases to the ‘public purse’. 

         Acknowledgement that the capital programme requested an additional £900k for 
Crawley Homes retrofit initiatives, to unblock developments due to water 
neutrality.  These costs would be reimbursed by developers back to the HRA and 
tenants would benefit from lower water bills. 

         Recognition of the supplementary report additional recommendation for £10m 
budget for Acquisition of Land and Dwellings in the HRA, and £1.15m for 
Temporary Accommodation which would provide the flexibility to acquire 
properties on the market for either general needs or temporary accommodation 
purposes. 

         Confirmation sought and provided on the apprenticeship schemes and salaries. 
         Detailed discussion ensued in relation to the potential reduction in homelessness 

numbers.  Recognition that regular liaison took place with Strategic Housing and 
whilst it was a challenge to estimate the impact on future budgets of 
homelessness demands it was hoped that additional factors (such as grants and 
increases to capital budgets as documented in the supplementary agenda) would 
assist in reducing the demand for the service in future years. Acquisitions could 
play a significant role in addressing the increasing pressures on the Council’s 
Housing Register. 

         Acknowledgement that forecasting trends, variables and future housing needs 
was complex and on a local level.  The reasons for homelessness were 
multifaceted and the identification of the causes was beneficial, however there 
were multiple factors, including affordability and supply.  There was a range of 
multiple reasons why individuals were within the housing register and temporary 
accommodation along with policy and economic issues.  It was recommended that 
it would be beneficial to receive a report back to the OSC on these factors and 
data impacting homelessness, temporary accommodation, and the identification of 
potential causes.  It was further agreed that feedback be sought from Strategic 
Housing and included in the report as to how the service anticipated a reduction in 
homelessness numbers over the coming years, both generally as well as a 
reduction in homeless individuals where the council owes a duty (or is obliged) to 
prevent homelessness. 

  
RESOLVED  
That the Commission noted the report, the additional recommendations documented 
above and those in the supplementary agenda, and requested that the views 
expressed during the debate, were fed back to the Cabinet through the Commission’s 
Comment sheet. 
  

6. 2022/2023 Budget Monitoring - Quarter 3  
 
The Commission considered report FIN/607 of the Chief Executive and Chief 
Accountant (s151 officer). The report set out a summary of the Council’s actual 
revenue and capital spending for the quarters to December 2022 together with the 
main variations from the approved spending levels and impact on future budgets.  It 
was added that the council had made significant in year savings. 
  
During the discussion with the Leader of the Council and Chief Accountant, the 
following points were expressed:  
Acknowledgement that for quarter 3 variance had increased from £900,000 to 

£1.198m which would lead to a transfer from reserves of £1.65m.  Similarly, 
recognition that the deficit on the HRA had increased from £218,000 to £1.019m, 
mostly all due to the forecast overspend on responsive repairs of £800,000.  

Page 8

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s25890/20222023%20Budget%20Monitoring%20-%20Quarter%203.pdf


Overview and Scrutiny Commission (52) 
30 January 2023 

 
 

£350,000 of this was due to weather-related repairs, but the rest was due to 
increased material costs and the poor condition of properties being returned.   

         Confirmation was provided as to the main variances between the quarters, 
although offset by investment and operational properties, NASB vacancies, tree 
contractors and software licensing.  It was acknowledged that whilst creative and 
thorough recruitment was undertaken, some posts were difficult to fill and 
maintain. 

      Recognition that within the capital programme spend at end of Q3 was £20.654m 
against a budget of £37.461m. There was a projected slippage of £1m into future 
years across a number of schemes. 

      Clarity sought and obtained on the K2 Crawley income projection reduction.  It was 
acknowledged that recovery had been challenging and there was still progress to 
be made in order to have numbers return to pre-pandemic levels. Income 
projection was down £150,000 from Q2.  The deed of variation puts the financial 
risk on the council, and despite membership sales improving, the market for gym 
membership was more competitive and Everyone Active had reduced their 
membership fees to attract and retain members.  Utility costs were also higher and 
had significantly impacted.  It was noted that the OSC was shortly due to receive 
an update on the K2 Crawley contract. 

  
RESOLVED 
That the Commission noted the report and requested that the views expressed during 
the debate, were fed back to the Cabinet through the Commission’s Comment sheet. 

  
7. Treasury Management Strategy 2023-2024  

 
The Commission considered reports FIN/608 and FIN/608A of the Chief Executive 
and Chief Accountant (s151 officer) on the Treasury Management Strategy for 
2023/2024 which the Council was required to approve before the start of the financial 
year in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management and 
the Council’s financial regulations. 
  
During the discussion with the Leader of the Council and Chief Accountant, the 
following points were expressed:  
         Recognition that the information was compiled from Q3 and budget reports which 

identified how the Council would finance the capital programme.  Any identified 
borrowing could either be externally or internal borrowing.  External borrowing 
could be long term through the Public Works Loan Board or short term with other 
local authorities.  Internal borrowing was against the Council’s existing reserves or 
balances. 

         Acknowledgement that external debt remained at £260,325,000 (all belonging to 
the HRA).  The first repayment was due back in March of £11m, followed by each 
subsequent March. Confirmation that no re-borrowing was needed for the first two 
years, but the strategy indicated that there would be a requirement to take out new 
borrowing in the future to fund the capital programme. 

         Confirmation that there were no proposed changes to the investment strategy 
from the previous year.  Investments were £129m at the beginning of the year, 
expected to fall to £89m by 31 March. 

         Confirmation that the income from leaseholders was initially documented as 
‘other income’ within the HRA. 

         Request for further acronyms to be documented within finance reports, together 
with an explanation where appropriate. 

         Confirmation sought and explanation provided on the liability benchmark. 
         Recognition of the supplementary report as the amendment to the Budget and 

Council Tax Report (FIN/606A) would impact on the capital programme and 
prudential indicators in the Treasury Management Strategy. The amended 

Page 9

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s25891/Treasury%20Management%20Strategy%202023-2024.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s25946/Supplementary%20Treasury%20Management%20Strategy%202023-2024.pdf


Overview and Scrutiny Commission (53) 
30 January 2023 

 
 

recommendation (FIN/608A) enabled the financing of the revised capital 
programme. 

  
 RESOLVED  
That the Commission noted the report together with the amended recommendation 
documented in the supplementary agenda and requested that the views expressed 
during the debate, were fed back to the Cabinet through the Commission’s Comment 
sheet. 
  

8. Corporate Debt Policy  
 
The Commission considered report FIN/610 along with Appendix A and Appendix 
B with the Leader of the Council, Chief Accountant (s151 officer) and Accounts 
Receivable Manager.  A review was carried out in 2022 and a new Corporate Debt 
Policy had been drafted to meet the Council’s requirements. 

  
During the discussion, Councillors made the following comments: 
         Acknowledgement that the Council took its responsibilities to protect the public 

purse seriously and was committed to the highest standards of accountability in 
order to ensure the proper use of its approach to income collection and debt 
recovery. 

         Recognition that the recent review of Council’s processes in 2022 had resulted in 
a Corporate Debt Policy being compiled to meet the Council’s requirements.  The 
Council had recently rolled out “Lateral” software to enable it to have a shared 
view of debt across the Council. The system identified people that were vulnerable 
and was able to point them to get debt advice to help avoid getting into further 
debt.   

         There was support that staff had regular training on debt recovery and how to 
support people in debt such as referring them to Breathing Space or Access 
Crawley. 

         Acknowledgement that where possible, the Council aimed to proactively prevent 
debt arising or escalating and would seek to keep citizens informed so that they 
were fully aware of their obligations to the council and were in a position to make 
good decisions that avoid additional costs and pressures. However, ultimately the 
council would, where appropriate, escalate recovery actions to recover hard to 
collect debt. When doing so, it would maintain its fairness principles while applying 
the correct legal options.  

         It was noted that in collecting income and recovering debt, the council was 
committed to adhering to good practice. This included the recognition of fairness 
principles and that collection arrangements should be manageable and 
sustainable in the context of both the council’s duty to collect and a household’s 
individual circumstances. 

         Recognition that there were multiple payment methods available for individuals 
which was reassuring that circumstances were assessed. 

         Confirmation obtained as to the situations whereby a debt was irrecoverable.  
After 6 years the debt is statute-barred and cannot be collected. 

  
RESOLVED  
That the Commission noted the report and requested that the views expressed during 
the debate, were fed back to the Cabinet through the Commission’s Comment sheet. 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s25892/Corporate%20Debt%20Policy.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s25893/Appendix%20A%20Corporate%20Debt%20Policy.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s25894/Appendix%20B%20EIA%20Corporate%20Debt%20Policy%20Management.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s25894/Appendix%20B%20EIA%20Corporate%20Debt%20Policy%20Management.pdf


Overview and Scrutiny Commission (54) 
30 January 2023 

 
 

9. Corporate Plan 2023-2027  
 
The Commission considered report CEX/60 with the Leader and Deputy Chief 
Executive. The report documented a refresh the Council's Corporate Plan so it 
reflected the Council's priorities for the period 2023-2027. 

  
During the discussion, Councillors made the following comments: 
         Acknowledgement that the report documented and update from the previous 

Corporate Plan with a significant focus on post-pandemic recovery concentrating 
on areas including the economy, communities, water neutrality, continuation of the 
Crawley Growth Programme and Crawley Towns Fund, together with delivering 
affordable housing.  

         Support for the continued inclusion of the ‘duty to co-operate’ arrangements to 
work with neighbouring authorities in the spirit of partnership to deliver housing to 
meet Crawley's needs. 

         Confirmation provided regarding the programme required for reducing the town’s 
carbon footprint and the commitment delivery to net zero through the Council’s 
housing stock. It was noted whilst both these programmes were of vital 
importance the work would be allocated from different funding streams. 

  
RESOLVED  
That the Commission noted the report and requested that the views expressed during 
the debate, were fed back to the Cabinet through the Commission’s Comment sheet. 
  

10. Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee (HASC)  
 
An update was provided from the most recent HASC meeting.  Key items of 
discussion included: 
  
         West Sussex Stroke Programme. 
         Delivery of the Adult Social Care Strategy 2022-2025 - 'The life you want to lead'. 
         Adults' Services Quality Assurance Update. 
         Witness session to improve NHS Dentistry across the county. 
  
The minutes of the meeting were available on the HASC website. 
 

11. Forthcoming Decision List - and Provisional List of Reports for the 
Commission's following Meetings  
 
The Commission confirmed the following reports: 
  
Tenancy Policy (Crawley Homes)  
Leisure Contract  - PART B  
Waste and Recycling Contract Extension - PART B 
Allocating Monies Collected Through CIL – Provisional Referral 

  
The OSC is also due to receive an update on the K2 Contract along with a Cabinet 
Member discussion from the Cabinet member for Wellbeing.    

  
Closure of Meeting 
With the business of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission concluded, the Chair 
declared the meeting closed at 9.03 pm 

 
T G Belben (Chair) 

 
 

Page 11

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s25895/Corporate%20Plan%202023-2027.pdf
https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=3109&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Crawley Borough Council 

 
Report to Overview and Scrutiny Commission 

6 March 2023 
 

Report to Cabinet 
8 March 2023 

 
Tenancy Policy Crawley Homes 

 
Report of the Head of Crawley Homes CH/199 

 
 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 To request approval for the adoption of the Tenancy Policy in Appendix A 
 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 To the Overview and Scrutiny Commission: 
 

That the Commission consider the report and decide what comments, if any, it 
wishes to submit to the Cabinet. 

 
 
2.2  To the Cabinet  

 
That the Cabinet is recommended to:  
 
a) Approve the Tenancy Policy (Appendix A) for adoption and subsequent 

publication.  
 

b) Delegate authority to the Head of Crawley Homes, in consultation with the 
Cabinet member for Housing, to review and make amendments to the Tenancy 
Policy as further changes to legislation and statutory guidance are introduced. 
(Generic Delegation 7 will be used to enact this recommendation). 

 
c) Delegate to the Head of Crawley Homes the variation process required for 

introductory flexible tenancies under Section 103 of the Housing Act 1985 
(Generic Delegation 3 will be used to enact this recommendation) 

 
 
3. Reasons for the Recommendation 
 
3.1. In line with the Localism Act 2011 and Regulatory Standards, it is a requirement for 

social landlords to have a policy in place which sets out their approach to offering 
tenancies and making best use of stock, as well as how they will manage and 
sustain tenancies. 
 

3.2. The proposed Tenancy Policy sets out the Council’s revised approach. 
 
 
 

Page 13

 5
 T

en
an

cy
 P

ol
ic

y 
C

ra
w

le
y 

H
om

es

Agenda Item 5



 

4. Background 
 
4.1. The Council’s initial Tenancy Policy came into effect in March 2013. This policy set 

out the Council’s approach in line with 3.1, which included the use of offering flexible 
tenancies. The policy set out that flexible tenancies would be offered to the majority 
of new Crawley Homes tenants that commenced on or after 1 April 2013, although 
secure periodic (sometimes referred to as ‘lifetime’) tenancies would continue to be 
offered in some circumstances.    
 

4.2. The Tenancy Policy was reviewed in October 2017 and June 2018 with minor 
amendments to include the process for reviewing and renewing flexible tenancies.   
 

4.3 The proposed Tenancy Policy is the latest iteration and includes a major change in 
policy direction to end the granting of new flexible tenancies to take effect from 1 
April 2023. 
 

4.4 From 1 April 2023 all new Council tenants will be offered secure periodic tenancies. 
Existing flexible tenants will be offered a new secure periodic tenancy to replace 
their flexible tenancy, the grant of these new tenancies will take place over a two 
year period commencing 1 April 2023 end ending 31 March 2025.  Introductory 
flexible tenancies will be phased out using the provisions of section 103 of the 
Housing Act 1985 a process which can be commenced once the policy is 
approved. The policy contains provision to use flexible tenancies in some very 
limited circumstances, namely for certain non-successors. 

 
 
5. Description of Issue to be Resolved 
 
5.1 The Localism Act 2011 introduced flexible tenancies to allow housing providers 

greater flexibility in making best use of their stock.  The Tenancy Standard 2012 
embeds the use of flexible tenancies for a minimum period of five years, or two years 
in exceptional circumstances.  
 

5.2 The Council’s Tenancy Strategy encourages registered providers to make the best 
use of stock to meet housing needs and recognises that certain tenancy types, such 
as flexible tenancies, are more likely to facilitate this. 

 
5.3 Flexible tenancies are secure tenancies offered for a fixed term. Since April 2013 the 

Council has offered five year flexible tenancies for the majority of new tenancies.  
We have granted 2289 flexible tenancies between 1 April 2013 and 31 December 
2022. 

 
5.4 Flexible tenancies allow the Council to review the housing needs of tenants 
 towards the end of the five year fixed term period and consider an offer of a 
 more suitable property in the following circumstances: 
 

• Where a property is under-occupied by two or more bedrooms 
• Over occupancy 
• Property no longer matches the tenant’s needs e.g. property contains 

adaptations no longer needed 
• Where the council intents to dispose of or refurbish the property 

 
5.5 The existing policy specifies that flexible fixed term tenancies would not usually be 

renewed at the end of the fixed term in the following circumstances: 
 

• Where it is deemed the tenant has conducted their tenancy in an 
unacceptable way and there has been a tenancy breach e.g. rent arrears or 
anti-social behaviour 

Page 14

 5
 T

en
an

cy
 P

ol
ic

y 
C

ra
w

le
y 

H
om

es

Agenda Item 5

https://crawley.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/PUB354329.pdf


 

• Where the tenant’s financial circumstances have substantially improved.  
 
5.6 Flexible tenancies present the Council with a number of difficulties and/or challenges 

associated with ongoing management.  These include: 
• Complexities of seeking possession during the fixed term period associated 

with the need to follow the forfeiture process 
• Risks around waiving the right to forfeiture 
• The administrative process associated with reviewing a tenancy at the end of 

the term, which starts twelve months prior to the expiry of the tenancy 
• The administrative task associated with CORE returns 
• Complexities around mutual exchanges, including whether to assign or 

surrender and re-grant when completing an exchange. 
• Considerations to creating sustainable communities and providing long term 

security for tenants 
 
5.7 Despite the number of management challenges there are also a variety of benefits to 

the Council of offering flexible tenancies. This is largely around making the best and 
most efficient use of stock ensuring that households are rightsized at the end of the 
fixed term, a particularly important tool in the context of our ability to enable 
downsizing which in turns assists in freeing up family sized accommodation for 
allocation through the housing register. It should be noted that downsizing can 
otherwise be difficult to achieve other than through negotiation or incentive.  
Furthermore, flexible tenancies act as a tool for managing tenancy conduct, 
including rent and ASB although other tools are available for managing this.  The 
review process also gives us other opportunities such as the ability to identify non-
occupation, poor property condition and vulnerability. 

 
5.8 As per 4.4 it is proposed that the phasing out of existing flexible tenancies takes 

place between 1st April 2023 and 31st March 2025, we plan to address this by 
contacting tenants to surrender their existing tenancy with the grant of a new secure 
tenancy, we will do this in date order based on when the tenancy is due to expire at 
the rate of approximately 95 per calendar month. Tenants will need to agree to move 
over to a new secure, if they fail to agree or there are complexities associated with 
the grant of a new secure tenancy, such as difficulties associated with an absent 
joint tenant, they will need to remain as a flexible tenant until the position can be 
resolved or until their existing tenancy expires and is reviewed.  Furthermore, we 
have a small number of flexible tenants who have a possession order against their 
existing tenancy, these tenants will remain on their current tenancy.  

 
5.9 Paragraph 5.8 sets out the process we will follow to phase out flexible tenancies. 

However, a different process can be followed for the phasing out of introductory 
flexible tenancies using provisions set out in section 103 Housing Act 1985. For 
introductory tenancies we can vary their agreement by a preliminary notice followed 
by a variation notice under section 103 of that Act so that their agreement states that 
at the end of the introductory period the tenancy will become periodic.  The 
provisions of section 103 cannot be used for tenants on existing fixed term flexible 
tenancies. 
 

5.10 There are a number of other minor variations and/or additions to the revised 
Tenancy Policy, aside from the move away from flexible tenancies, these are as 
follows: 

• The Council’s use of non-secure tenancies and licences 
• The Council’s approach to decanting tenants where planned works are likely 

to cause major disruption and/or where there has been an incident requiring 
an emergency decant 

• The Council’s approach to delivering tenancy support 
  

Page 15

 5
 T

en
an

cy
 P

ol
ic

y 
C

ra
w

le
y 

H
om

es

Agenda Item 5



 

 
6. Information & Analysis Supporting Recommendation 
 
6.1  This major revision to the Tenancy Policy concerns the end of the granting of 

flexible tenancies. This decision is based on the fact that the Council has had 
limited success to date creating opportunities for best use of stock through the 
review process at the end of the tenancy fixed term.  The Council has created 2289 
flexible tenancies to date and reviewed approximately 500 of those that have come 
to the end of their term. Of those only 10 tenancies (2%) have either not been 
renewed at the original address or not renewed at all, as follows: 

 
  

Reason for non-renewal Outcome 
Under-occupancy by two or more 
bedrooms 

1 tenant has been moved to a smaller 
property 

Over occupancy No tenants have been moved to larger 
properties 

Property no longer matches the tenants 
needs 

1 tenant has been moved to a more suitable 
property, freeing up a disabled adapted unit. 

Where tenant’s financial circumstances 
have substantially improved 

No tenants have not had their tenancy 
renewed  

To dispose of or refurbish a property No tenants have been moved 
Where the tenancy has not been 
conducted appropriately 

8 cases have resulted in possession claims, 
though to date, 2 court orders have been 
granted on the mandatory ground of not 
renewing the tenancy resulting in eviction 

  
 
6.2 Whilst the above shows limited outcomes in terms of making best use of stock it 

must be seen in the context of the small percentage (less than 30%) of the Council’s 
stock which is let on a flexible tenancy and the limited number of those tenancies 
that have been subject to review to date.  

  
6.3 Retaining flexible tenancies and the associated review process, despite the limited 

results to date, would allow the Council the opportunity to continue to have some 
control over managing occupancy.  And it should be noted that as the number of 
flexible tenancies grow and are managed over a longer duration there is potential for 
outcomes to change and produce more widespread results, particularly in relation to 
underoccupation.  

 
7. Implications 
 

Financial implications 
7.1. This revised policy, despite offering a major change in our approach to offering 

tenancies, will not require additional finances to administer. However, over the 
longer term we may need to consider revising our approach to offering financial 
incentives to continue to encourage downsizing. We also need to consider 
implications on the potential supply of family sized accommodation for 
accommodating families owed a housing duty under the Housing Act 1996. 
 
Legal implications 

7.2 Reviewing and updating the tenancy policy ensures the Council is compliant with the 
Localism Act and regulatory standards.  

 
7.3 There are a number of legal complexities associated with enforcing breach of 

tenancy conditions during the period of a flexible tenancy as referenced in 5.6. The 
requirements for undertaking enforcement and possession were tested in 2022 in 
the case of Croydon LBC v Kalonga. The process is far more technical and complex 
than dealing with possession of a secure tenancy, it therefore carries greater risk of 

Page 16

 5
 T

en
an

cy
 P

ol
ic

y 
C

ra
w

le
y 

H
om

es

Agenda Item 5



 

error occurring and the potential for inadvertently waiving the right to forfeiture and 
then the ability to seek possession, in consequence enforcement requires a greater 
level of support from the Council’s Legal Services Team.  Risks and costs are 
therefore mitigated through the major change proposed to the Tenancy Policy. 

 
Staffing implications 

 
7.4 The review process for flexible tenancies places an administrative burden on 

housing staff, withdrawing the review process from workload would free up capacity. 
Whilst there is no intention to streamline the housing team as a result of this change, 
it does provide an opportunity for redistributing resource such as reallocating general 
tenancy management resource into tenancy sustainment or creating new 
opportunities.  For example, the process of undertaking a flexible tenancy review 
provides us with an opportunity for identifying where someone is not managing the 
property or their tenancy, when this might otherwise not be on our radar. If we 
remove this opportunity we need to explore new ways of creating similar chances, 
such as through tenancy audits.  However, we will need to manage the process of 
phasing out flexible tenancies over the next two years before we are able to look at 
these other opportunities.  
 

7.5 Phasing out flexible tenancies through tenants surrendering their existing tenancy 
and granting a new secure tenancy will need to be completed at a rate of 
approximately 95 tenancies per calendar month over the next two years; it is likely 
that this is manageable within current housing resource as this work will replace the 
existing renewal process. Whilst we do not review this number of flexible tenancies 
in any one month, we expect the process of granting a new secure tenancy to be 
less onerous thereby allowing us the capacity to process this volume each month.  
However, some cases will be more complex than others to complete and will have 
an impact on resource in the Tenancy Management team, such as negotiating and 
liaising with joint tenants where one tenant is absent from the tenancy. It may be that 
some complex cases cannot be resolved in the two year phasing out period. It is not 
possible to predict what this will look like, but the impact will need to be kept under 
review.  
 

7.6 Input will be required from Legal Services to draft a revised tenancy agreement and 
communications explaining the change, this will need to include provision in the 
agreement for transferring any arrears in rent owed at the time of granting the new 
secure tenancy. Input will also be required from Legal Services to support the 
section 103 process to vary introductory flexible tenancies as described in paragraph 
5.9. Ongoing input from legal services will also be needed to manage any complex 
cases arising, such as with absent joint tenants, as referenced in paragraph 7.5.  
 
Equality Implications 

 
7.7 An equality impact assessment has been completed for the revised policy with 

positive implications recorded against all protected characteristics. This is shown in 
Appendix B. 
 

8. Alternative Options 
 
8.1 There are positive and negative outcomes associated with the major change being 

proposed to the Tenancy Policy.   An alternative to the policy change proposed 
would be to consider retaining flexible tenancies but offer them over a longer term 
fixed period, such as ten years instead of five years.  This would provide greater 
security for tenants whilst allowing the Council to retain some control in making best 
use of stock and lessening the demand on staffing resources.  

 
 
 

Page 17

 5
 T

en
an

cy
 P

ol
ic

y 
C

ra
w

le
y 

H
om

es

Agenda Item 5



 

9. Background Papers 
  

None 
 
Report author and contact officer: 
 
Amanda Kendall (Head of Crawley Homes) 
amanda.kendall@crawley.gov.uk 
01293 438521 
  

Page 18

 5
 T

en
an

cy
 P

ol
ic

y 
C

ra
w

le
y 

H
om

es

Agenda Item 5

mailto:amanda.kendall@crawley.gov.uk


 

Appendix A 
Crawley Borough Council 

Tenancy Policy 

1 Context 

1.1 The need for a Tenancy Policy arises out of a range of social housing reforms set 
out in the Localism Act 2011 and through changes to the regulatory standards that 
all social landlords are expected to meet.  

1.2 The requirement to produce a Tenancy Policy is set out in the Regulatory 
Framework for Social Housing produced by the Homes and Communities Agency 
(2012).  The Tenancy Standard states:  

Registered providers shall offer tenancies or terms of occupation which are 
compatible with the purpose of the accommodation, the needs of individual 
households, the sustainability of the community, and the efficient use of their 
housing stock 

1.3 In addition, the Standard also states; 

Registered providers shall publish clear and accessible policies which outline 
their approach to tenancy management, including interventions to sustain 
tenancies and  prevent unnecessary evictions and tackling tenancy fraud. 

1.4 This policy sets out how Crawley Borough Council will use the range of options 
available in the Localism Act to assist in meeting its strategic aims as outlined in its 
Tenancy Strategy (2019 and updated in November 2022) and should be read in 
conjunction with this.   

1.5 This policy applies to Crawley Borough Council’s own housing stock and includes 
our approach to: 

• The types of tenancy we will grant 

• The circumstances in which we may grant certain types of tenancy 

• Our approach to sustaining tenancies, providing support to vulnerable tenants, 
and preventing unnecessary evictions  

• Incentives to encourage mobility and address under-occupation 

 

2 Policy Details 

2.1 This policy covers the Council’s approach to the type of tenancy we will offer and 
how and how we will manage tenancies from 1 April 2023. 

2.2  This policy aims to support sustainability in our local communities through the use of 
secure lifetime tenancies and proactive tenancy management.  It also sets out 
approach to the use of social and affordable rents. 

2.3 Except as described in 4.11 to 4.12 below, this policy does not cover the agreements 
or arrangements related to accommodation provided by the Council to people it 
accommodates under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996. 

 

3. Rents 

3.1 The Council will continue to charge social rents on all properties built prior to the 
 introduction of affordable rent tenure in 2012, and also where social rent is a 
 planning condition.  

Page 19

 5
 T

en
an

cy
 P

ol
ic

y 
C

ra
w

le
y 

H
om

es

Agenda Item 5



 

3.2 Affordable rent will generally be charged on all new rental properties built since 2012 
although it will be dependent on how the scheme is funded and in some instances 
will be a requirement associated with government grants. Social rent may still be 
provided on a scheme-by-scheme basis but this will depend on the extent of grant 
funding that may be available, and on the viability of the scheme.  

3.3 Affordable rent is set at 80% of market rent and may not exceed the Local Housing 
Allowance (LHA) rates, it is inclusive of service charge.  We will obtain a valuation for 
all our affordable rent properties on an annual basis which will form the basis of 
evaluating rents for properties. 

3.4 Social rent is set using the Rent Standard as defined by the Regulator of Social 
Housing.  Social rents are lower than affordable rent.  

3.5 Service charges will be set in addition to the social rent for properties where there 
are shared communal areas that need to be maintained.  

 

4  The types and lengths of tenancies granted 

Flexible tenancies 

4.1 Except as set out in section 5.9 below, Crawley Borough Council will not grant 
flexible tenancies on or after 1 April 2023. 

4.2 Any flexible tenancy in existence on 31 March 2023 will continue to be a flexible 
tenancy until an offer of a new secure periodic tenancy is made and accepted by the 
tenant.  Any new secure periodic tenancy granted will include provision for any 
arrears of rent to be transferred from the previous flexible tenancy, the tenant will 
need to accept this provision when the new secure tenancy is granted. Any 
introductory flexible tenancy in existence on 31 March 2023 will continue to be 
introductory and will be varied using the provisions of section 103 Housing Act 1985, 
so that their agreement states that at the end of the introductory period the tenancy 
will become periodic. 

4.3 If the tenant fails to accept the new secure periodic tenancy, including the transfer of 
arrears to the new tenancy, they will remain on a flexible tenancy. 

4.4 Where there are complexities around resolving joint tenancies if one tenant has 
vacated the property, this may result in a tenancy remaining as a flexible tenancy 
until resolution can be reached between parties.  

4.5 Existing flexible tenancies that have a possession order associated with them or 
where possession proceedings or other anti-social behaviour enforcement action 
has been taken (including service of notices), those tenants will not be offered a new 
secure periodic tenancy, unless there are exceptional circumstances. In the event 
that the Council decides not to apply to enforce a possession order in these cases, 
the term of their flexible tenancy will continue and the tenancy reviewed at the end of 
the period. 

4.6 The above does not affect the Council’s right to seek possession based on the 
 mandatory ground (under section 107D of the Housing Act 1985) at the end of any 
 flexible tenancy, and the Council reserves this right accordingly.  

4.7 The action at 4.6 will be taken only in exceptional circumstances where there has 
 been a serious breach of tenancy during the lifetime of the tenancy.  

 Introductory Tenancies   

4.8 Except as described in 4.9 to 4.13 below, introductory tenancies will be offered to all 
new social housing tenants and will last for a twelve month term. At the end of a 
successful introductory period these tenancies will become secure periodic 
tenancies.  

Page 20

 5
 T

en
an

cy
 P

ol
ic

y 
C

ra
w

le
y 

H
om

es

Agenda Item 5



 

4.9  Introductory tenancies are permissible under the Housing Act 1996. The Council  
 adopts the use of introductory tenancies to facilitate the provision of safe, clean and 
 attractive neighbourhoods by encouraging people to adhere to their tenancy 
 conditions from the outset of their tenancy.  They enable quicker and firmer action 
 to deal with nuisance and anti-social behaviour, non-payment of rent and other 
 tenancy breaches. 

4.10 If the tenancy conditions have been breached, then we will consider taking action to 
 end the tenancy or extend the introductory tenancy for a further six months.  If, 
 following an extension to the introductory tenancy, the tenant has still failed to keep 
to the terms of their introductory tenancy we will consider taking action to end the 
tenancy.   

4.11 The tenant has the right to request a review of a decision to either extend or end 
their Introductory Tenancy. 

Secure “Lifetime” Tenancies 

4.12 Aside from accommodation offered as described in sections 4.8, 4.13 to 4.16 and 
5.9 , all other people will be offered a secure periodic (or lifetime) tenancy.  
 
Non-secure tenancies 

4.13 In some circumstances related to decanted introductory or secure tenants, the 
Council may grant non-secure tenancies, this is covered in section 6. 
 

4.14 Although this policy does not cover the provision of accommodation under Part 7 of 
the Housing Act 1996, the Council may in exceptional circumstances grant an 
insecure tenancy of accommodation within its stock to households granted 
emergency temporary accommodation under that Act. 

Licences 

4.15 The Council will offer an Excluded Licence to residents occupying the Council’s own 
non-self contained hostel accommodation. 

4.16 The Council will also offer a licence in some circumstances related to decanting 
residents due to emergency or urgent work, this is covered in section 6. 

 

5 Succession 

5.1 Succession refers to the process whereby a tenancy can sometimes be passed on 
to another member of the family when a tenant dies.  

5.2 The Localism Act changed the succession rights for secure tenants whose tenancy 
commenced after 1 April 2012. Prior to that, there was a statutory right of succession 
to all introductory and secure tenancies conferred on the spouse/civil partner of the 
tenant, who lived with that tenant at the property at the time of the tenant’s death, or 
if there was no spouse or civil partner, to a family member (as defined by the 
legislation) who lived with the tenant for 12 months prior to the tenant’s death. The 
Localism Act provided that these rights continued in respect of all secure tenancies 
which were granted prior to 1 April 2012.  

5.3  The changes made by the Localism Act (which applies to all secure tenancies 
granted on or after 1 April 2012) were as follows: 

• That the right of the spouse/civil partner will continue, but this will now also 
include co-habitees (a person who had been residing with the tenant as if 
married or as if in a civil partnership) 

• That if there is no spouse/civil partner/co-habitee residing at the property at the 
time of the tenant’s death, succession to a family member will be possible if the 

Page 21

 5
 T

en
an

cy
 P

ol
ic

y 
C

ra
w

le
y 

H
om

es

Agenda Item 5



 

tenancy agreement expressly includes a term permitting this (this is a 
discretionary succession provision). 

 

Tenancies granted before April 2012 

5.4 As shown in 5.2 a tenancy can be succeeded to by a spouse/civil partner who lived 
with the tenant at the property at the time of the tenant’s death or if there is no 
spouse or civil partner, a family member can succeed to the tenancy who lived with 
the tenant for 12 months prior to the tenant’s death. 

5.5 Only one statutory succession is permitted. 

 
Tenancies Granted between April 2012 and March 2013 

5.6  The Council’s tenancy agreement for tenancies entered into between 1 April 2012 to 
31 March 2013 includes a discretionary succession provision in line with entitlement 
conferred to pre-April 2012 tenancies as shown in 5.4 and 5.5.   

Tenancies Granted from 1 April 2013 

5.7  Tenancies granted from 1 April 2013 do not have a discretionary succession 
provision in line with 5.4 and are only be able to be succeeded to in line with 
legislation, by either the spouse, civil partner or co-habitee (a person who had been 
residing with the tenant as if married or as if in a civil partnership) who occupied the 
tenanted property as their only or principal home at the time of the tenant’s death.  
Only one statutory succession is permitted. 

Family members who do not have the right to succeed to a tenancy 

5.8 The Council’s Housing Allocation Scheme allows for the allocation of 
accommodation in certain circumstances to family or household members unable to 
succeed.  

5.9 Where, upon the death of an introductory, secure periodic or flexible tenant, there is 
no person qualified to succeed to the tenancy but there is an immediate family 
member of the deceased tenant who resided with the tenant throughout the period of 
5 years ending with the tenant's death, the Council may offer them a flexible 
tenancy.  Flexible tenancies granted in these circumstances will be in respect of a 
property which meets their needs (i.e. not necessarily the deceased tenant’s 
property) and for a 2-year non-renewable term. This is to give them the opportunity 
to plan for alternative housing and provide some short-term stability following 
bereavement. At the end of a 2 year flexible tenancy the council will not generally 
offer a new tenancy or allow a periodic secure tenancy to arise, although the Council 
would consider departing from this policy in exceptional cases where the Council 
likely owes the person the Main Homeless Duty.   Appendix 1 sets out the details of 
the tenant’s right of a review of decisions pertaining to the offer of a flexible tenancy 
and the decision not to offer a new flexible tenancy. 

5.10 In cases where there is no legal right to succeed, but where the Council owes that 
person the Main Homeless Duty, an offer of a direct let of suitable accommodation 
may be made.  The offer will not necessarily be in respect of the property that they 
are currently living in. 

5.11 Where there is no right to succeed and the circumstances at 5.9 or 5.10 are not met, 
officers will be sensitive and provide support and allow reasonable time for the 
occupants to find alternative accommodation, which may include signposting to other 
agencies and other Council departments.   

5.12  Any non-successor(s) will be charged for use and occupation of the property after 
the deceased tenant’s tenancy has been ended and until such time they vacate the 
property.  The charges will be at the equivalent rate of rent for that property.  

Page 22

 5
 T

en
an

cy
 P

ol
ic

y 
C

ra
w

le
y 

H
om

es

Agenda Item 5

https://crawley.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-05/Full%20Housing%20Allocations%20Scheme%20-%20May%202020.pdf


 

5.13 Where a person claims that they are a successor but the Council, after considering 
the evidence available, decides that the person is not a successor, the Council will 
conduct a review of this decision via the Council complaints procedure if requested 
to do so by the non-successor. 

Offer of alternative accommodation following succession  

5.14 If a person succeeds to a tenancy of a property that is larger than their housing 
 needs, or the property is in a sheltered housing scheme or the property has 
 adaptations which are no longer required by the tenant/their household, the Council 
will offer an alternative property more suited to their needs. 

5.15  Where the Council chooses to offer an alternative property more suited to their 
 needs, any such offer will be of the type of tenancy held by the deceased tenant 
 unless it is a five year fixed term tenancy, in which case we will offer a secure 
periodic tenancy.  

5.16  We will consider enforcing the grounds set out in the Housing Act 1985 if the 
resident fails to cooperate with the policy requirements set out at 5.14 and 5.15.  

  

6  Decanting tenants due to significant planned or emergency works   

6.1  On occasion, it may be necessary to carry out extensive repair works to a property 
 either of a planned nature or following an unplanned incident such as a fire.  Where 
 possible, these works are carried out with the tenant in situ.  However, on rare 
 occasions it may be necessary to offer alternative property on a temporary or 
 permanent basis.  

6.2 Tenants who are decanted will be offered a licence or non-secure tenancy 
dependent on the circumstances.  If the decant is intended to last very short term we 
will usually offer a licence, if the decant is intended to last over a longer period, such 
as one to six months, we will usually offer a non-secure tenancy. 

6.3  An offer of a permanent move to a like for like alternative property may be made if 
 any of the following applies, in other circumstances the move will be temporary: 

• the proposed works are likely to take more than 6 months to be completed 

• the tenant or a member of the household has a vulnerability that may be 
impacted by the insecurity of moving temporarily to another property 
 

7 Mutual Exchanges  

7.1 The Council enables tenants to gain access to opportunities to exchange their
 tenancy with that of another social housing tenant, by way of an internet-based 
 mutual exchange service.  Tenants may also seek to find a mutual exchange using 
 other means.  

7.2 Where a mutual exchange is proposed, and one or more of the tenants holds a 
 flexible tenancy, if the exchange proceeds we will offer the tenant transferring into 
 the property(ies) of the flexible tenant(s) a secure periodic tenancy rather than the 
 assignment of the existing flexible tenancy.  

 

8 Under-occupation  

8.1 The Council operates a Under Occupation Incentive Scheme which offers a financial 
 incentive to tenants when they move to a smaller size property and the Housing 
 Allocation Policy gives additional priority to tenants wishing to downsize.  

 

Page 23

 5
 T

en
an

cy
 P

ol
ic

y 
C

ra
w

le
y 

H
om

es

Agenda Item 5

file://cbcdata/eh-hs-group/Crawley%20Homes%20Policies/Under%20occupation%20scheme/Under%20occupation%20Scheme%20-%20Dec%2019%20V6%20.pdf


 

 

 

9 Tenancy Support 

9.1  Our tenant services are person-centred around early intervention and providing 
tailored support to help sustain tenancies and to the meet the varying needs of our 
tenants who can become vulnerable at any point during the lifetime of their tenancy. 

9.2 We have an in-house Tenancy Support Officer, Financial Inclusion Officer, and Older 
 Persons Support team who along with our Housing Officers offer a number of 
 interventions to help tenants achieve a greater degree of security including:  

• Carrying out affordability assessments where appropriate prior to the letting 
of a new tenancy where the tenant is not currently a social housing tenant or 
where the tenant is being offered an affordable rent property.  

• Increased support to tenants through new tenant visits for vulnerable tenants 

• The provision of issue specific advice and support, including advice in 
relation to budgeting, managing debt, maximising income and claiming 
benefits  

• Provision of a specialist Older Person’s Support Service which includes the 
provision of housing related support to promote independence for tenants in 
sheltered housing or tenants in general needs accommodation over the age 
of 60, or over the age of 55 for those with a mental health of physical 
disability. 

• Provision of additional support from the Tenancy Support Officer where the 
tenancy is at risk and the tenant has a need for additional support for period 
of time to help sustain the tenancy   

• Referral and signposting to range of specialist external support agencies and 
services 

• Advice and support from other Council departments and services 

 

10 Preventing evictions  

10.1  As far as possible the Council seeks to minimise the number of evictions that are 
carried out.  We will work proactively to assist in sustaining tenancies with evictions 
usually taking place as a last resort once other informal and formal measures have 
been exhausted.  Where evictions do take place, these are largely associated with 
non-payment of rent or antisocial behaviour, and our approach to proactively 
managing these tenancy issues are set out below as an example of our approach: 

• Income management Our income management team seek to proactively 
address any payment problems as quickly as possible in order to prevent 
debts accruing.  We encourage people to contact us with any problems that 
they have in paying their rent and aim to provide tailored support to try to 
resolve any issues preventing non-payment.  We also employ Financial 
Inclusion Officers and refer tenants for specialist benefits advice or debt 
counselling. We comply with the court’s pre-action protocol.  

• Anti-social behaviour Our Nuisance and Anti-Social Behaviour team 
proactively tackle all neighbour and anti-social behaviour issues as quickly as 
possible and aim to work constructively with victims and perpetrators to try to 
find amicable solutions.  

 

Page 24

 5
 T

en
an

cy
 P

ol
ic

y 
C

ra
w

le
y 

H
om

es

Agenda Item 5



 

10.2  Where informal strategies for resolving anti-social behaviour and other tenancy 
 breaches is not successful or possible, the proportionality of legal action will be 
considered to  determine the most reasonable and proportionate form of action. 
However, where tenancy breaches continue or the breach is serious and/or there is 
a risk of harm to other residents or staff, action may be taken to recover possession 
of a property swiftly and/or to seek other legal remedies, such as injunctions.  

 

11 Tackling fraud   

11.1 We take a proactive approach to addressing housing fraud, this begins at sign up 
and includes the requirement for tenants to submit a photo to be kept on file 
alongside their tenancy agreement and re-checking of identification prior to signing 
of the tenancy.  Rechecking of identification may also take place during the tenancy, 
in order to re-verify identity. 

11.2 Targeted tenancy checks will be carried out where tenancy fraud is suspected to 
ensure that the property continues to be occupied by the tenant it was let to.  We will 
take immediate action to recover properties that have been sub-let or that are 
unoccupied.  This enables us to make best use of our properties to help meet 
housing need. 

11.3  Where tenancy fraud is suspected a referral is made to the Council specialist fraud 
 investigation team.   

 

12 Exceptional circumstances 

12.1  The Head of Crawley Homes or any other duly authorised officer, may make a 
 decision which departs from this Policy in exceptional circumstances.  Any such 
 decision will be made having taken into account all of the circumstances.  

 

13 Review of the Tenancy Policy  

13.1  The Tenancy Policy will be reviewed every three years, when the Tenancy Strategy 
 is amended, or where there has been a significant change in circumstances, 
 legislation, or related policy.   

13.2 Any minor changes will be made in consultation with the Head of Crawley Homes 
 and the Portfolio Holder for Housing.  

 

14  Consultation  

14.1 This Policy was reviewed by Crawley Homes Tenant and Leaseholder Action Panel 
 for discussion and comment on 30 November 2022.  

 

15 Equality Impact Assessment 

15.1 An equality impact assessment has been completed in respect of this policy. No 
negative impacts are identified. Positive impacts are identified for all protected 
characteristics. 

  

Page 25

 5
 T

en
an

cy
 P

ol
ic

y 
C

ra
w

le
y 

H
om

es

Agenda Item 5



 

Appendix 1 

1. Right of Review of Decisions relating to Fixed Term Flexible Tenancies 

1.1 There is a statutory right to request a review of the following 2 types of decisions: 

• A person has the right to request a review of the Council’s decision to offer a fixed 
term flexible tenancy (or the decision to serve a notice stating that on coming to 
an end of an introductory tenancy it will become a flexible tenancy of a certain 
length), if they believe the length of the tenancy offered is not consistent with this 
Policy. 

• A tenant has a right to request a review of the Council’s decision not to offer a 
new tenancy on the expiry of their Fixed Term Flexible Tenancy. 

1.2 A person who wishes to request a review must do so before the end of the period of 
21 days beginning with the day on which the notice of the decision is served. 

1.3 The administrative arrangements for requesting and conducting a review will be set 
out in the offer/decision letter. The Flexible Tenancies (Review Procedures) 
Regulations 2012 set out the procedure to be followed and include a right for the 
tenant(s) / potential tenant(s) to request an oral hearing.  

  

Page 26

 5
 T

en
an

cy
 P

ol
ic

y 
C

ra
w

le
y 

H
om

es

Agenda Item 5



 

Appendix B 

Equality Impact Assessment 
1. Introduction 

Division: Crawley Homes 
Name of activity: Revision of the Crawley Homes Tenancy Policy 
Type of activity: 
 
 

A change to an existing activity (including ceasing that activity) 
If other, please specify: 
Click or tap here to enter text. 

Completed by: Clare Prosser 
Date completed: 09/12/22 
Date approved by Head of Service Click or tap to enter a date. 

 
2. About the activity 

Please note the term “activity” is used here to include any new services proposed for introduction, changes to an existing service, withdrawal of an 
existing service, any new policy or strategy or change to an existing policy or strategy, and any project. 

 
What is the main purpose of the activity?  
Please explain in a short paragraph 
The tenancy policy sets out the type of tenancies the council will grant and in which circumstances and outlines our approach to tenancy 
management.  
 
Why is it being introduced / reviewed / changed? 
This could be, for example because of new government legalisation or guidance, changing services user needs, or financial reasons 
The council’s tenancy policy is being revised in line with the intention to stop granting and regranting 5 year flexible tenancies and to instead 
grant secure tenancies where flexible tenancies would previously have been granted or regranted 
 
Who is the intended audience or target group?  
 
Internal audience or group: Staff & Councillors 
External audience or group: Residents who use a particular service (please specify below) 
If other, please specify below and provide details how the audience or target group will benefit? 

P
age 27

 5 Tenancy Policy Crawley Homes

A
genda Item

 5



 

Current and future Crawley Homes tenants who current hold or would have been granted a flexible tenancy in the future will be granted a 
secure ‘lifetime’ periodic tenancy which is provides more security of tenure than the current offer of flexible tenancy. 
 
 
Have you already consulted on / researched the activity? 
Please provide a brief explanation of the work that has been undertaken and any key findings / data. Are there any gaps that need further 
investigation? 

Yes. The council’s Tenant and Leaseholder Action Panel have been consulted on the revised tenancy policy and did not disagree 
with the intention to offer secure periodic tenancies in place of flexible tenancies 
 

 
3. Assessing potential impact 

When undertaking your assessment, it is important to think about every stage of the process regarding the activity. This includes the design phase, 
consultation, delivery phase and post completion of the activity. Information about the protected characteristic groups as defined by the Equality Act is 
available here. You should also use this assessment to consider impacts on other vulnerable groups such as those on low incomes. 
 
Impact on people with a protected characteristic  
Is there a potential positive or negative impact based on the following? 
Age (older / younger people, children) 
 

Positive 

Disability (people with physical / sensory impairment or mental disability) 
 

Positive 

Gender reassignment (the process of transitioning from one gender to another.) 
 

Positive 

Marriage & civil partnership (Marriage is defined as a 'union between a man and a woman'. Civil partnerships are 
legally recognised for same-sex couples) 
 

Positive 

Pregnancy & maternity (Pregnancy is the condition of being pregnant & maternity refers to the period after the birth) 
 

Positive 

Race (ethnicity, colour, nationality or national origins & including gypsies, travellers, refugees & asylum seekers) 
 

Positive 

Religion & belief (religious faith or other group with a recognised belief system) 
 

Positive 

P
age 28

 5 Tenancy Policy Crawley Homes

A
genda Item

 5

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


 

Sex (male / female) 
 

Positive 

Sexual orientation (heterosexual, gay, lesbian, or bisexual,) 
 

Positive 

Whilst Socio economic disadvantage that people may face is not a protected characteristic; the potential impact on 
this group should be also considered 

Positive 

 
What evidence has been used to assess the likely impacts?  
(e.g. demographic profiles, research reports, academic research, benchmarking reports, consultation activities, staff surveys, customer 
surveys, public surveys, complaints, grievances, disciplinary cases, employment tribunal cases, ombudsman cases, media reports) 
 

There is not considered to be a negative impact of the revision to the tenancy policy. Any other amendments or additions aside 
from the changes to the granting of flexible tenancies simply set out or clarify current policy and do not refer to any service 
changes.  
What resource implications are there to deliver actions from this EIA?  
(Quantify: people, time, budget, etc.) 

Resources that would have been used to review flexible tenancies will be available to resource any impact of now offering secure tenancies 
 

 
4. Outcome following initial assessment 

Does the activity have a positive impact on any of the protected groups, or contribute to promoting equality, 
equal opportunities and improving relations within target groups? 

Yes 

If yes, record the evidence below.  If no STOP and re-examine the activity. 

Yes all protected groups will be offered a tenancy with a higher level of security either at the start of their tenancy or when their existing 
flexible tenancy expires.  

 

Does the activity have a negative impact on any of the protected groups, i.e. disadvantage them in any way? No 

If yes, identify the necessary changes and record appropriate actions below.  If no, record the evidence and assessment is complete. 

Click or tap here to enter text. 

P
age 29

 5 Tenancy Policy Crawley Homes

A
genda Item

 5



 

 
 
5. Decision following the initial assessment 

 
Continue with existing activity or introduce new / planned activity Yes 
Amend activity based on identified actions No 

 

6. Monitoring & Review 

How do you propose to monitor and review the impact of your proposal? 
 
Please outline how you will monitor the impact of your proposal, once implemented, on protected characteristic groups, and what the 
mechanisms for review are. 
 
It is unlikely  that anyone with a protected characteristic will be unhappy with the decision to offer them more security of tenure.  

 
Date of last review or Impact Assessment: 09/12/22 

Date of next 12-month review: 04/12/23 

Date of next 3-year Impact Assessment (from the date of this EIA): 02/12/25 

Date Sent to HR and Organisational Development Team: Click or tap to enter a date. 
 
 

Has the EIA identified any positive or negative impact on any of the protected groups which requires action? 

e.g., adjustments to the approach or documents, changes to terminology, broadening parameters of policy, etc.   If so, record any actions to 
be undertaken and monitored 

Impact identified Action required Lead Officer Deadline 

    

    

P
age 30

 5 Tenancy Policy Crawley Homes

A
genda Item

 5



THE “EXECUTIVE” FUNCTION (THE LEADER AND THE CABINET) 

 

Cabinet Member for Housing  

Service Area Responsibilities:  

They will carry out responsibilities with regards to the following service areas: 

a) Crawley Homes. 

b) Strategic Housing (including statutory functions such as homelessness and houses in multiple 

occupation).  

c) Council tax reduction and housing benefit.  

d) Council Owned Garages (Crawley Homes).  

e) Housing Revenue Account 

 

Policy and Strategy Responsibilities:  

They will oversee, and where applicable, approve the development of plans, statutory notices and 
policies within the above service areas, ensuring appropriate consultation occurs on all such proposals, 
including:  

a) Housing Strategy.  

b) To work jointly with the Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Development to meet the 

housing needs of the Borough.  

c) Liaising and joint working with Social Services and health (housing).  

d) To work collectively with the Cabinet Member for Environmental Services and Sustainability, the 

Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Development and the Cabinet Member for Resources (via 

joint Briefing meetings) in relation to the Town Hall site redevelopment.  

 
 
Specific Delegations:  

They hold, but are not limited to, the following specific delegations:  

a) Power to vary the rent of dwellings and garages held on the Housing Revenue Account.  

b) The approval of variations to the affordable housing requirements specified in Core Strategy Policy H5 

for any housing scheme where it has been evidenced that scheme viability cannot support meeting these 

requirements in full, or where changes in housing needs or housing policy may justify any variation to the 

percentage and/or tenure mix being sought.  

c) To discharge the functions of the Council in relation to the appropriation of surplus land (excluding 

residential dwellings) from the Housing Revenue Account for a different use/purpose.  

d) Approval of amendments to the Crawley Homes Under-Occupation Incentive Policy.  

e) Responding to the Government’s Welfare Reform agenda (with the Leader) 

 

Outside Bodies:  

They are not specifically appointed to any outside bodies  (All Cabinet Members may be substitute for 
another Cabinet Member on any of the Cabinet appointed outside bodies) 

Page 31

 6
 C

ab
in

et
 M

em
be

r D
is

cu
ss

io
n 

w
ith

 th
e 

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 33

 9
 W

as
te

 a
nd

 R
ec

yc
lin

g 
C

on
tra

ct
 E

xt
en

s

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Tenancy Policy Crawley Homes
	6 Cabinet Member Discussion with the Cabinet Member for Housing
	9 Waste and Recycling Contract Extension

